
MAYOR                      INTERIM  CITY MANAGER 

Brian West Michelle Owens 

 
CITY COUNCIL CLERK OF COUNCIL  
Monty Parks Mayor pro tem Jan LeViner 

Bill Garbett  

Spec Hosti 
Tony Ploughe CITY ATTORNEY 

Nick Sears Edward M. Hughes 

Kathryn Williams Tracy O’Connell 

CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

 

A G E N D A  
REGULAR MEETING OF TYBEE ISLAND CITY COUNCIL 

March 14, 2024 at 6:30 PM 
Please silence all cell phones during Council Meetings 

 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
     Invocation:  Rev. Sue Jackson, Trinity Methodist Church 
     Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Announcements 
 
Recognitions and Proclamations 

1. Chief Master Petty Officer Eric Reisner, US Coast Guard 
2. Recognition of Tybee Island Fire Department 

 
Consideration of Items for Consent Agenda  
 
Consideration of the approval of the minutes of the meetings of the Tybee Island City Council 

3. Minutes:  February 22, 2024 
 
Reports from Staff 

4. Jen Amerell:  Audit Recap 
 
If there is anyone wishing to speak to anything on the agenda other than the Public Hearings, 
please approached the podium.  Please limit your comments to 4 minutes  
 
Consideration of Approval of Consent Agenda 
 
Public Hearings 

5. 2024 Private Parking Lots – Renewals - All Requirements Met 
6. Site Plan Review:  Right of Way Upgrades:  Corner of 17th Street and Inlet Avenue, Walt 

Freeman 
7. Special Review for a Residential Bed and Breakfast:  1206 Venetian Drive:  Judith 

Compton 
 
 

- Page 1 -



 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

Consideration of Bids, Contracts, Agreements and Expenditures 
8. Main Street:  Expand Scope of Work For Tybrisa St. Electrical Upgrade 
9. Budget Amendment:  Contract Services, Executive Search for City Manager 

 
Council, Officials and City Attorney Considerations and Comments 

10. Bubba Hughes:  Update on Forsyth STR Status 
11. Brian West:  Request economic Impact Study of proposed STR Ordinance 
12. Nick Sears: Consideration of sending proposed STR ordinance to the Planning 

Commission for its review and investigation and approval or disapproval 
13. Kathryn Williams:  Request Resident Sentiment Survey 

 
City Manager Discussion and Action Items 
 
Minutes of Boards and Committees 

14. Minutes:  Planning Commission, 20240212 
 
Adjournment 
 
Executive Session 
     Discuss litigation, personnel and real estate  
Possible vote on litigation, personnel and real estate discussed in executive session 
Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or 
participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are 
required to contact Jan LeViner at 912.472.5080 promptly to allow the City to make reasonable accommodations 
for those persons.   
 
*PLEASE NOTE:  Citizens wishing to speak on items listed on the agenda, other than public hearings, 

should do so during the citizens to be heard section.  Citizens wishing to place items on the council 
meeting agenda must submit an agenda request form to the City Clerk’s office by Thursday at 5:00PM 

prior to the next scheduled meeting.  Agenda request forms are available outside the Clerk’s office at City 

Hall and at www.cityoftybee.org. 
 

 

 

THE VISION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to make Tybee Island the premier beach community in which to live, work, and play.” 
 

 

 

THE MISSION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to provide a safe, secure and sustainable environment by delivering superior services through responsible 
planning, preservation of our natural and historic resources, and partnership with our community to ensure 
economic opportunity, a vibrant quality of life, and a thriving future.” 

 

 

- Page 2 -

http://www.cityoftybee.org/


File Attachments for Item:

4. Jen Amerell:  Audit Recap

- Page 3 -



- Page 4 -Item #4.



- Page 5 -Item #4.



File Attachments for Item:

5. 2024 Private Parking Lots - Renewals

All Requirements Met

- Page 6 -



- Page 7 -Item #5.



- Page 8 -Item #5.



- Page 9 -Item #5.



- Page 10 -Item #5.



- Page 11 -Item #5.



- Page 12 -Item #5.



- Page 13 -Item #5.



- Page 14 -Item #5.



- Page 15 -Item #5.



- Page 16 -Item #5.



- Page 17 -Item #5.



File Attachments for Item:

6. Site Plan Review:  Right of Way Upgrades:  Corner of 17th Street and Inlet Avenue, Walt 

Freeman

- Page 18 -



- Page 19 -Item #6.



- Page 20 -Item #6.



- Page 21 -Item #6.



- Page 22 -Item #6.



- Page 23 -Item #6.



- Page 24 -Item #6.



- Page 25 -Item #6.



- Page 26 -Item #6.



- Page 27 -Item #6.



- Page 28 -Item #6.



- Page 29 -Item #6.



- Page 30 -Item #6.



1
2

INSERTA TEE
IE: 7.58

 FIELD VERIFY SIZE OF
MAIN AND INVERT

8" x 2" TAPPING SADDLE
WITH 2" TAPPING VALVE IN BOX
FIELD VERIFY WATER
MAIN LOCATION AND SIZE

4 RESIDENTIAL
METER MANIFOLD

2" HDPE LATERAL

R10'

CUT AND PATCH
ROAD

CUT AND PATCH
ROAD

16'

6'

16'

6'

16'

8'

10.9'

18.8'

24.7'

9.8'

13.6'

1'

1'

3'

CLEAN OUT
IE: 8.06

CLEAN OUT
IE: 9.30

CLEAN OUT
IE: 9.30

CLEAN OUT
IE: 9.3

CLEAN OUT
IE: 8.8

35lf 4" SDR35 SS LATERAL @ 2.11%

125lf 6" SDR35 SS LATERAL @ 1.34%

HEADER CURB

10'
22'

5'

22'22'22' 3'

5'

22'

10'

18" ROLL CURB & GUTTER

TAPER CURB 3'

HEADER CURB

18" ROLL CURB & GUTTER

TAPER CURB 3'

HEADER CURB

SLOPE WALK FOR 3" CURB

FFE = 13.1

FFE = 13.1

FFE = 13.1

FFE = 13.1

POROUS PAVERS

S
D

P
 -

 T
y
b

e
e

 T
o

w
n
h
o
m

e
.d

w
g

WATER NOTES:

1. NO IRRIGATION SYSTEM IS PROPOSED FOR THIS PROJECT

2. FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEM IS NOT INCLUDED FOR THIS PROJECT

3. NO INDUSTRIAL WASTEWATER WILL BE DISCHARGED FROM PROJECT

- Page 31 -Item #6.



Ds4

1
2

Ds4

Ds4

Ds4

Ds4

12' TALL PALM

12' TALL PALM

12' TALL PALM

2.5"Ø LIVE OAK 2.5"Ø LIVE OAK

2.5"Ø LIVE OAK

12' TALL PALM

TAPER CURB 3'

TAPER CURB 3'

FFE = 13.1

FFE = 13.1

FFE = 13.1

FFE = 13.1

S
D

P
 -

 T
y
b

e
e

 T
o

w
n
h
o
m

e
.d

w
g

Tree Protection
NTS

Tree Planting
NTS

Tree Staking
NTS

PLANTING SCHEDULE

ITEM SCIENTIFIC NAME COMMON NAME QTY SIZE SPACING TQP LQP

- - - 0 1 GAL 5' O.C. -- 0

- - - 0 1 GAL 5' O.C. -- 0

- - - 0 3 GAL 10' O.C. -- 0

- - - 0 2.5" CALIPER AS SHOWN 0 --

TD SABAL PALMETTO SABAL PALM 4 12' CLEAR AS SHOWN 0 --

QV QUERCUS VIRGINIANA LIVE OAK 3 2.5" CALIPER AS SHOWN 0 --

TOTAL 0 0

LANDSCAPING REQUIREMENT CALCS

Total Parcel Area, TA

Greenscape in Buffer

Building Coverage (3,918sf)

Trees Required (TA * 3TREES/4,500SF)

Total Trees Preserved (see chart below)

Total Trees Planted

Total Trees Provided (Preserved + Planted)

Landscape Requirement Met

- Page 32 -Item #6.



- Page 33 -Item #6.



File Attachments for Item:

7. Special Review for a Residential Bed and Breakfast:  1206 Venetian Drive:  Judith Compton

- Page 34 -



- Page 35 -Item #7.



- Page 36 -Item #7.



- Page 37 -Item #7.



- Page 38 -Item #7.



- Page 39 -Item #7.



- Page 40 -Item #7.



- Page 41 -Item #7.



- Page 42 -Item #7.



- Page 43 -Item #7.



- Page 44 -Item #7.



- Page 45 -Item #7.



- Page 46 -Item #7.



- Page 47 -Item #7.



- Page 48 -Item #7.



- Page 49 -Item #7.



- Page 50 -Item #7.



- Page 51 -Item #7.



- Page 52 -Item #7.



- Page 53 -Item #7.



- Page 54 -Item #7.



- Page 55 -Item #7.



- Page 56 -Item #7.



- Page 57 -Item #7.



- Page 58 -Item #7.



- Page 59 -Item #7.



- Page 60 -Item #7.



- Page 61 -Item #7.



- Page 62 -Item #7.



- Page 63 -Item #7.



- Page 64 -Item #7.



File Attachments for Item:

8. Main Street:  Expand Scope of Work For Tybrisa St. Electrical Upgrade

- Page 65 -



City of Tybee Island

Memorandum

To: City of Tybee Island Council Members

From: Cassidi Kendrick, Main Street/Downtown Development Director

Date: March 14, 2024

Re: Expand Scope of Work For Tybrisa St. Electrical Upgrade

Background

In the FY2024 City of Tybee Island approved budget, the Main Street Program budgeted

$300,000 for replacement and upgrade of the electrical outlets on Tybrisa Street. These outlets

are separate from the electrical on the new Georgia Power Light Poles.

Overview

The original scope included reworking all old electrical to existing 18 receptacles and all existing

conduit. Additionally, 8 electrical receptacles were added, and all posts were removed and

replaced in uniform fashion. All electrical is now up to current code, including flood

requirements.

The initial work of this project came in well under budget, leaving additional funding. Main

Street is requesting permission to expand the work area of this project to include the rest of the

boundaries of the South Beach District, specifically Strand Ave. from Tybrisa down to Fannies,

and Butler Ave. from Tybrisa to 14th Street.

Summary

Funding for Tybrisa Street Electrical Upgrades are in the approved City of Tybee Island’s FY2024

budget, adopted June 22, 2023, under the account number 350-1110-54-1200, itemized list of

Capital Requests. So far, $48,500 has been spent on Tybrisa Street Electrical Upgrades, and

$115,000 has been transferred to purchase Jaycee Parks lights. There is $136,500 left in line

item 350-1110-54-1200.

Recommended Next Steps

Based on the professionalism and familiarity with the area and consistent work of the current

contractor, Livingston Electrical, I would recommend approval of this existing project expansion

with the current contractor for an additional $81,970.00.

- Page 66 -Item #8.



 
LIVINGSTON ELECTRICAL SERVICE 

(912) 396-1303 
 

 

 

 Client:          2/28/2024 

City of Tybee- Butler Avenue 

 

1. Price includes relocating, reworking, or adding a double outlet posts for 29 Palm trees down 

Butler Avenue from Tybrisa St to 14th Street.  

2. Price includes relocating, reworking, or adding outlet posts as needed for 8 palm tree 

locations down Strand Avenue as directed. 

3. Price includes removing pavers from around Palm trees as needed to make room to fit new 

outlet posts. 

4. Price includes uncovering existing conduit or adding conduit as needed. 

5. Price includes extending existing or new conduit to new post location on sidewalk side of 

trees. 

6. Price includes pulling new wire throughout all outlets to be upgraded to 10 gauge. 

7. Price includes installing new post the same as Tybrisa St to be uniform. 

8. Price includes installing 20amp weather resistant receptacle X2 in each post with a 

weatherproof cover. 

9. Price includes installing GFCI breakers on each circuit. 

10. Price includes all electrical to be installed per current (NEC) National Electrical Code. 

11. Price Does Not include any repairs to existing conduits underground. Any damage to existing 

conduit will be priced after assessment of damage. 

12. Price Does Not include any boring, concrete cutting or trenching, if access is not available for 

New electrical locations further discussion is needed.  

 

  The above quote to be completed for the amount of: 

               Eight-One Thousand Nine Hundred Seventy Dollars  

  ($81,970.00) 

 

 

Client:                                                                                         Livingston Electrical Services: 

 

_______________________________                             ______________________________ 

 

 

- Page 67 -Item #8.



 
LIVINGSTON ELECTRICAL SERVICE 

(912) 396-1303 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. Livingston Electrical Service, LLC. provides a 1- year warranty on work completed.  
 

2. Livingston Electrical Service, LLC. is not responsible for any work done by anyone other than an 
employee of Livingston Electrical Service, LLC.  
 

3. The warranty will be voided if anyone comes in behind Livingston Electrical Service, LLC. and 
touches or changes any electrical work. This includes any person; home owner or company. 

 

- Page 68 -Item #8.



File Attachments for Item:

9. Budget Amendment:  Contract Services, Executive Search for City Manager

- Page 69 -



Date Received by Finance:

FINANCE USE ONLY:

Date: BA Ref No.

Purpose:  

 

Adjusted

Department Account Description Account Number  Current Budget (Expenditures) Budget Balance DECREASE ``` Budget Balance

0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00

SUBTOTAL LINE ITEM DECREASES: -$                   xx

Department Account Description Account Number  Current Budget (Expenditures) Budget Balance ``` INCREASE Budget Balance

Council Contract Services 100-1110-52-1200 0.00 26,950.00 (26,950.00) 0.00 26,950.00 0.00

0.00

General Use of Fund Balance 100-00-39-1300 NA NA NA 26,950.00 0.00

0.00

0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00

SUBTOTAL LINE ITEM INCREASES: -$                   53,900.00$       

Net Change -$                   53,900.00$       (53,900.00)$     

Signature : _____________________________________________  Date __________________

Was the Budget Amendment  Request approved by the City Council?  YES          NO           N/A

     If yes, please indicate the date approval was given:  _____________________________2/10/2022

    Attach Copy of Agenda Item and minutes from the City Council Meeting Date:
     

Approved by: ___________________________________________  Date: __________________

LINE ITEM INCREASES

Signature of Finance Employee who Processed the Request:  

To use the City's fund balance to fund the consultant costs 
associated with the executive search for a City Manager.

Budget Adjustment

Requested

LINE ITEM DECREASES

CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA
  BUDGET LINE ITEM TRANSFER REQUEST FORM

Council

3/7/2024

Department 
Submitted By:

Jen Amerell 3/7/24

- Page 70 -Item #9.



File Attachments for Item:

12. Nick Sears: Consideration of sending proposed STR ordinance to the Planning Commission 

for its review and investigation and approval or disapproval"

- Page 71 -



1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. __________ 2024 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES 

INCLUDING ORDINANCES IN THE LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE 

ZONING INCLUDING CHAPTER 4 SECTIONS 4-050.1 ADDRESSING 

SHORT TERM RENTAL PROPERTIES AND OTHER ORDINANCES SO 

AS TO ADDRESS THE EXPIRATION OF SHORT TERM RENTAL 

PERMITS IN CONNECTION WITH OWNERSHIP CHANGES AND 

TRANSFERS OF RELATED INTEREST BY OWNERS WITH PERMITS 

AND THE PROHIBITIONS OF ANY NEW PERMITS THEREAFTER FOR 

THE PROPERTY TO WHICH THE PRIOR PERMIT EXISTS, AFTER 

PUBLIC HEARINGS AND SUITABLE IMPUT AND TO CLARIFY THAT 

NO TRANSFER OF A PERMIT IS POSSIBLE WITH THE SALE OF A 

RESIDENCE AND TO PROVIDE FOR THE CESSATION OF A PERMIT 

WITHIN ZONE R1, R1B and R2 WITHIN THE CITY, TO ESTABLISH AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE; TO REPEAL INCONSISTENT ORDINANCES AND 

TO PROVIDE FOR CODIFICATION FOLLOWING ANY NECESSARY 

EDITS AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

WHEREAS the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, is authorized under Article 9, Section 2, Paragraph 3 of the Constitution of 

the State of Georgia to adopt reasonable ordinances to protect and improve the public 

health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Tybee Island, Georgia, and 

WHEREAS the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, is the Mayor and Council thereof; and 

WHEREAS the governing authority desires to adopt ordinances under its 

police, home rule and zoning powers granted to municipal and local governments 

under the State Constitution; and 

WHEREAS cities must from time to time update existing zoning definitions 

to keep pace with changes in technology, population trends and land usages. The 

City of Tybee Island has determined that the increase in online reservation systems 

and other peer to peer technology breakthroughs has substantially altered the face of 

the tourism industry and this plays a significant role in changing the character of 

neighborhoods within these residential zones; and 

WHEREAS the Council desires to make changes to the existing ordinances 

which permit new owners of previously permitted properties to apply to acquire 

permits for locations in Zones R1, R1B and R2 (hereinafter collectively referred to 

- Page 72 -Item #12.



2 
 

as the “Residential Districts”) more appropriate measures should be adopted 

applicable to these properties upon transfer: and  

Whereas the City of Tybee Island (the City) desires to reduce the number of 

short-term rentals in the Residential Districts; and 

WHEREAS, to reduce short term rentals in Residential Districts, the City 

considers the best course of action to be to prohibit transfer or reissuance of STR 

permits upon sale or other transfer of the properties to which they apply; and 

WHEREAS following public hearings as required by law, the Mayor and 

Council hereby ordain, and it is hereby ordained that the code of ordinances will be 

amended so as to provide as provided below; and 

It is hereby ordained by the governing authority of the City of Tybee Island as 

follows: 

SECTION 1 

As to properties in the Residential Districts only, upon the “Transfer”’ defined 

below, of an “STR Property”’ defined below, whether or not disclosed pursuant to 

section 3(a) below, the “STR permit”, defined below, for that STR Property shall 

terminate and be of no further force or effect and such terminated STR permit shall 

not be assigned, transferred or renewed, and no permit shall be issued in its place; 

and no application to secure or renew an STR permit for such location shall be 

submitted or accepted by the City. LDC section 4-051.11 shall have no application 

to STR Properties or STR permits in the Residential Districts (R-1, R-1-B and R-2).  

SECTION 2 

“STR permit” shall mean a permit or right to conduct short term rental in the 

Residential Districts granted or renewed pursuant to LDC sections 4-051.2, 4-051.3 

or 40501.11. 

“STR Property” shall mean each residence, structure or building in the 

Residential Districts for which a current “STR permit” has been issued, granted or 

renewed. 

“Short term rental” shall mean: 

(b) “Short-term rental’ means an accommodation for guests where, 

in exchange for compensation, a residential dwelling unit is provided 

for lodging for a period of time less than 30 consecutive days. Such 

- Page 73 -Item #12.



3 
 

use may or may not include an on-site manager. For the purposes of 

this definition, a residential dwelling shall include all housing types. 

This is also identified as “STR”. This shall exclude bed and breakfast 

accommodations as they are currently defined by the City of Tybee’s 

land development code. However, bed and breakfast establishments 

are required to have occupational tax certificates, and to pay taxes 

and fees as required by law or ordinance. 

“Transfer” shall mean a conveyance of all, any portion of or any interest in 

the title to an “STR Property” or the conveyance of any proprietary or beneficial 

interest in any trust or artificial entity (i.e., LLC, partnership, corporation) which 

owns or holds record title to a STR Property; provided, however that, in the event a 

STR Property is owned in whole or part in cotenancy or by an artificial entity which 

has more than one cotenant, beneficiary, member, partner or shareholder 

(collectively referred to herein as “interest holder”) then a conveyance of an interest 

in that owner to another then existing interest holder of that owner (so that the 

number of interest holders in that owner is reduced) shall not be considered a 

Transfer.  

SECTION 3 

_(a)  The form of the application for the renewal of an STR permit (the 

“Application”) shall require disclosure of the full name or names of the current (as 

of the filing of the Application) owner or owners of the subject STR Property and, if 

any of the owners is an artificial entity, shall require the names of all its current 

members, partners, shareholders or beneficiaries, as the case may be. Further the 

form of the Application to be filed in 2025 shall require disclosure of each Transfer 

of the subject property which occurred after the “effective date” of this Ordinance; 

and after 2025 the Application shall require disclosure of each Transfer which 

occurred in the immediately preceding calendar year. 

(b)  In conducting any audit under the verification program and policy referred 

to in LDC section 4-051.10 or any other investigation of compliance by one or more 

STR properties, such audit or investigation by the City shall, if appropriate, include 

research of the Chatham County, Georgia real property and ad valorem tax records, 

filings and applications by the owner of the subject STR Property and any relevant 

information in Zillow or other publicly accessible or available private sources. 

(c)  Upon becoming aware of the occurrence of a possible Transfer whether 

because of a disclosure in an Application pursuant to section 3(a) above or because 

of an audit or investigation referred to in section 3(b) above or far for any other 

- Page 74 -Item #12.



4 
 

reason, the City the shall notify the owner of the STR Property involved of the 

Transfer and the resulting termination of That STR Property’s STR permit.  Such 

notice shall be mailed by regular and certified return receipt mail to the address of 

the owner or the owner’s manager supplied in that STR Property’s most recent 

Application.  The owner shall have 20 days from the date such notice was mailed to 

refute the occurrence of a Transfer and to contest the termination of the STR permit 

by a written notice to the city manager. A hearing will be held before the city manager 

or the manager’s designee within 7 business days unless otherwise agreed upon in 

writing to a future specific date no more than 30 days thereafter. Following the 

hearing, the manager or the manager’s designee will make a written determination 

within 3 business days. The Provisions hereof relating to hearings may become 

subject to future code amendments providing for code enforcement hearings 

applicable to zoning and other codes. 

SECTION 4 

If any section, subsection, clause, or provision of this ordinance shall be held 

to be invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding 

shall not affect any other section, subsection, clause, provision or portion of this 

ordinance which is not invalid or unconstitutional. Where the provisions of this 

ordinance are in conflict with other ordinances, the most restrictive provision shall 

be enforced. 

SECTION 5 

All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are expressly 

repealed. 

SECTION 6 

It is the intention of the governing body, and it is hereby ordained, that the 

provisions of this ordinance shall become effective and be made a part of the Code 

of Ordinances, City of Tybee Island, Georgia, and the sections of this ordinance may 

be renumbered to accomplish such intention. 

SECTION 7 

This ordinance shall be effective upon its adoption by the Mayor and Council 

pursuant to the Code of the City of Tybee Island, Georgia. 

This Ordinance shall become effective on _____ day of ______________, 

2024. 

- Page 75 -Item #12.



5 
 

X:\Clients\000572 - Tybee Island\000582-Short Term 

Rentals\ORDINANCES PROPOSED 2024\Version 3 

 

ADOPTED THIS ____ DAY OF ___________, 2024. 

 

              

       MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

 

       

CLERK OF COUNCIL 

 

FIRST READING:    

SECOND READING:    

ENACTED:      

 

- Page 76 -Item #12.



File Attachments for Item:

14. Minutes:  Planning Commission, 20240212

- Page 77 -



 

 

  
 
PLANNING COMMISSION                          ACTING CITY MANAGER  
Anna Butler                                        Michelle Owens 
Beau Livingston 
Robert J. Matkowski 
Elaine McGruder                                                                                                          COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR 
S. Michelle Nooney             George Shaw  
David Roberts          
Marie Rodriguez                                         CITY ATTORNEY        

                                         Edward M. Hughes
                                         Tracy O’Connell                                                                   

 
Planning Commission Meeting 

 MINUTES  
February 12, 2024 

 
Mayor Brian West called the February 12, 2024, Tybee Island Planning Commission meeting to 
order. Commissioners present were Anna Butler, Marie Rodriguez, Elaine McGruder, Beau 
Livingston, David Roberts, Robert Matkowski and Michelle Nooney. 
 
Planning Commission Oath administered by Mayor Brian West 
(2-year terms end January 31, 2026): 
Mayor Brian West stated the first order of business would be the installation of our newly appointed 
members, which are Anna Butler, Marie Rodriguez, Elaine McGruder, Beau Livingston, and 
David Roberts. Mayor Brian West asked the newly appointed members to stand and raise their 
right hand and repeat the oath. Mayor Brian West then congratulated and thanked the new 
members. 
 
Elections: 
George Shaw asked if there were any nominations for chair and vice chair of the Planning 
Commission. Robert Matkowski made a motion to nominate Elaine McGruder for chair. Marie 
Rodriguez seconded. Elaine McGruder made a motion to nominate Michelle Nooney for vice 
chair. Anna Butler seconded. The votes were unanimous for both chair and vice chair. George 
Shaw then handed the meeting over to Chair Elaine McGruder. 

 
Chair Elaine McGruder called the February12, 2024, Tybee Island Planning Commission meeting 
to order. Commissioners present were Anna Butler, Robert Matkowski, Marie Rodriguez, 
Beau Livingston, David Roberts, and Michelle Nooney. 
 
Consideration of Minutes: 
Chair Elaine McGruder asked for consideration of the December 18, 2023, meeting minutes. 
Marie Rodriguez made a motion to approve. Michelle Nooney seconded. The vote to approve was 
unanimous. 
 
Disclosures/Recusals: 
Chair Elaine McGruder asked if there were any Disclosures or Recusals. There were none. 
 
Old Business: 
Chair Elaine McGruder asked if there was any old business. There was none. 
 
 

 

- Page 78 -Item #14.



 

 

SITE PLAN: requesting to develop City parking/curbing/sidewalks and landscaping – 
corner of Inlet and 17th Street-40008 18001 – Zone C-1 – Walt Freeman. 
George Shaw stated that Mr. Walt Freeman would like to formally develop the right of way area 
around this property. Adding a paver sidewalk and create five parking spaces with pavers curbs and 
landscaping. The city manager, public works and Parking departments are in favor of this project. Staff 
recommends approval. Anna Butler asked how long will the parking places that are blocked off be 
blocked. George Shaw stated Mr. Freeman asked for permission to block those spaces and was 
approved. Christine McCarthy who lives at 1603 Butler Avenue asked what is going to be developed 
on this land. George Shaw stated the site plan for the property was approved in 2023 for four 
townhomes. Walt Freeman who lives at 1801 Chatham Avenue stated his goal is to make this corner 
a show piece. Marie Rodriguez asked what the plan for the house that is raised right now. Stated 
that will be one of the townhomes. David Roberts made a motion to approve. Michelle Nooney 
seconded. The vote to approve was unanimous. 
 
SPECIAL REVIEW: requesting to operate a residential Bed and Breakfast – 1206 
Venetian Drive – 40011 01016 – Zone R-2 – Judith A. Compton. 
George Shaw stated the applicant Ms. Compton would like to make this a residential bed and 
breakfast. This property was a bed and breakfast with the previous owner. This meets all the 
requirements for a residential bed and breakfast. Staff recommends approval. Robert Matkowski 
stated that it does not appear to have a six-foot buffer on sides and rear. And there is no handicap 
access. George Shaw stated there is an empty lot to the right and the rear and sides is a fence. She 
also has letters of support. As far the handicap access is an upstairs apartment, it is not required. Beau 
Livingston asked what the definition does of sleeping and sanitary accommodations means that it 
has to have a kitchen. George Shaw stated it does not make a difference. Robert Matkowski stated 
he would like to follow up on the definition of sleeping and sanitary accommodations at the next 
meeting. Judith A. Compton, who lives at 1206 Venetian Drive, stated this apartment does not have 
a full kitchen, just a refrigerator. Marie Rodriguez made a motion to approve. David Roberts 
seconded. Anna Butler, Marie Rodriguez David Roberts, Robert Matkowski and Michelle 
Nooney voted for the approval. Beau Livingston voted against the approval. The vote was 5 to 1. 
The vote was approved.  
 
 
 
Adjournment: 8:00pm 
Lisa L. Schaaf 

- Page 79 -Item #14.


	Top
	Item #1.	Chief Master Petty Officer Eric Reisner, US Coast Guard
	Item #2.	Recognition of Tybee Island Fire Department
	Item #3.	Minutes:  February 22, 2024
	Item #4.	Jen Amerell:  Audit Recap
	[Untitled]

	Item #5.	2024 Private Parking Lots - Renewals
	Private Parking Lots - 2024

	Item #6.	Site Plan Review:  Right of Way Upgrades:  Corner of 17th Street and Inlet Avenue, Walt Freeman
	1. - 104 17TH ST-SITE PLAN

	Item #7.	Special Review for a Residential Bed and Breakfast:  1206 Venetian Drive:  Judith Compton
	2. - 1206 VENETIAN DR-SPECISL REVIEW

	Item #8.	Main Street:  Expand Scope of Work For Tybrisa St. Electrical Upgrade
	Memo for Expanding Electrical
	City of Tybee Strand Ave and Butler Ave Palmtree Outlet Posts

	Item #9.	Budget Amendment:  Contract Services, Executive Search for City Manager
	3-7-24 CM Consultant

	Item #10.	Bubba Hughes:  Update on Forsyth STR Status
	Item #11.	Brian West:  Request economic Impact Study of proposed STR Ordinance
	Item #12.	Nick Sears: Consideration of sending proposed STR ordinance to the Planning Commission for its review and investigation and approval or disapproval
	Version 3

	Item #13.	Kathryn Williams:  Request Resident Sentiment Survey
	Item #14.	Minutes:  Planning Commission, 20240212
	20240212_PCMINUTES

	Bottom



